1978

Richard Gerald Dye, aka R. Gerald Dye, and Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc. , A Corporation v. Miller & Viele, A Corporation Lee Charles Miller, Lesley F. Lewis, and Chevron Oil Company, A Corporation v. All Other Persons Unknown Claiming Any Right, Title, Estate, Lien Or Interest In the Real Property Described In the Complaint Adverse To Plaintiffs' Ownership, Or Any Cloud Upon Plaintiffs' Title thereto : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action to quiet title in an undivided one-half mineral interest.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

There was no trial. The District Court granted Plain-

tiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment brought under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Defendant Miller & Viele's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied. The court held that Defendant Miller & Viele was barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Plaintiff Richard Gerald Dye's tax title to the disputed one-half mineral interest. Based on that holding, the District Court granted judgment for Plaintiffs quieting title in Plaintiff Richard Gerald Dye to the disputed one-half mineral interest. The court further ordered Defendant Chevron Oil Company to disburse to Plaintiffs accrued and future shares of oil and gas production attributable to the disputed one-half mineral interest.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Miller & Viele seeks a reversal of the trial court's grant of Summary Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and its denial of Defendant Miller & Viele's Motion for Summary Judgment, with the accompanying determination that Miller & Viele is not barred by the statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Plaintiff Richard Gerald Dye's tax title to the disputed one-half mineral interest. The case should then be remanded for trial on the issues of the validity of Plaintiff Richard Gerald Dye's tax title to the disputed one-half mineral interest and the relative priority of that tax title with respect to Miller & Viele's title to the disputed one-half mineral interest. The case

should also be remanded for trial on the issue of whether the predecessor in interest of Plaintiff Richard Gerald Dye acquiesced in Miller & Viele's title to the one-half mineral interest.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES AND EXPLANATION OF ABBREVIATIONS

Miller & Viele, a Defendant and the Appellant, hereinafter will be referred to as Miller & Viele. Defendant Chevron Oil Company hereinafter will be referred to as Chevron or, where appropriate, by its full name. Richard Gerald Dye, a Plaintiff and Respondent, hereinafter will be referred to as Dye or, where appropriate, by his full name. Plaintiff and Respondent Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc., hereinafter will be referred to by its complete name. Richard Gerald Dye and Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc., collectively, hereinafter will be referred to as Plaintiffs or, where appropriate, by their names.

"R" refers to a page reference in the record of the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs Richard Gerald Dye and Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc., brought this action to quiet title to an undivided one-half mineral interest in real property located in Duchesne County (R-1). Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment under Rule 56 of the Utah

Rules of Civil Procedure and alleged that Miller & Viele was barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Dye's tax title (R-74;103). In the alternative, Plaintiffs alleged that Dye held title to the disputed one-half mineral interest by adverse possession (R-2;106).

The District Court held that Miller & Viele was barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Dye's tax title (R-220). The court also held that Dye did not have title to the disputed one-half mineral interest by adverse possession (R-221). Miller & Viele does not challenge this latter determination nor have Plaintiffs appealed from this portion of the Judgment. The sole question before the court, then, is whether Miller & Viele is barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from challenging Dye's tax title.

Both Dye and Miller & Viele claim title to the disputed one-half mineral interest. Defendant Miller & Viele's title to the one-half mineral interest stems from the 1928 foreclosure of a valid mortgage in the real property and a sheriff's deed to Miller & Viele's predecessor in interest (R-230). The property was ultimately conveyed to Miller & Viele in June of 1930 (R-231). On October 15, 1946, Miller & Viele conveyed the real property by deed to Plaintiff Dye's predecessor in interest, reserving to itself a one-half mineral interest in "all gas and mineral

rights, including oils and hydrocarbons" (R-73;233). This 1946 deed was solicited and recorded by Dye's predecessor in interest (R-132;233). It is the one-half mineral interest reserved in the 1946 deed which alone is the subject of this quiet title action.

Dye's claim to Miller & Viele's reserved one-half mineral interest is based upon a 1940 Quit Claim Deed from Duchesne County to Dye's predecessor in interest (R-231). Duchesne County claimed an interest in the real property by virtue of an auditor's tax deed issued to Duchesne County on May 9, 1932 (R-231). Dye's claim to the title of the one-half mineral interest reserved by Miller & Viele in its conveyance to Dye's predecessor in interest in 1946 is based upon this tax deed (R-231).

Miller & Viele leased its interest in the one-half mineral interest to the California Oil Company on February 18, 1964 (R-234). California Oil Company changed its name to Chevron Oil Company subsequent to entering into this lease with Defendant Miller & Viele and before filing this lawsuit, and succeeded to all interests of California Oil Company in the lease (R-234).

Dye leased his interest in the one-half mineral interest to Flying Diamond Land and Mineral Corporation on March 26, 1970 (R-234). The oil and gas lease of Dye and Flying Diamond Land and Mineral Corporation was assigned to Plaintiff Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc by two (2) conveyances dated

May 7, 1970, and April 6, 1971 (R-234).

On August 11, 1971, the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation entered an Order in Cause No. 131-14 imposing a 640 acre drilling unit for all of Section 29, of Township 1 South, Range 1 West, U.S.M., including the real property in which Plaintiff Dye and Defendant Miller & Viele claim the one-half mineral interest, which is located in the NW1/4NE1/4 of Section 29 (R-86;234-35).

The aforesaid Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation directed that only one (1) well is permitted to be drilled for production of oil, gas, or hydrocarbons, from the common source of supply on the aforesaid 640 acre drilling unit comprised of all of Section 29 (R-88;235

On October 30, 1973; a Communitization Agreement was entered into between Defendant Chevron Oil Company, Defendant Miller & Viele's lessee, and the Plaintiff Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc., and the other mineral lessees with leasehold interests in the properties covered by the 640 acre drilling unit imposed on said Section 29 by the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation (see page 2 et. seq. of Appendix and page 191 of Abstract of Title; the Abstract of Title was filed as an Exhibit to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment but cannot now be located by the clerks of the lower or the Supreme Court. Pursuant to stipulation between counsel, a substitute copy of the Abstract will be filed hereafter if the original is not located; R-235).

Defendant Chevron Oil Company, Miller & Viele's lessee, was designated in the Communitization Agreement to be the operator of the entire 640 acre unit and the only well permitted to be drilled on said Section 29 pursuant to the aforesaid Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation (R-236).

Pursuant to the Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation and the aforesaid Communitization Agreement, Defendant Chevron Oil Company commenced the construction of a well on the SW1/4NW1/4SE1/4 of said Section 29, on December 6, 1973, and completed said well to a depth of 12,700 feet as a producing well on March 26, 1974 (R-236). Since its completion, this well has been producing oil and gas minerals continuously from the common source of supply for all of the aforesaid 640 acre drilling unit of Section 29 (R-236; see illustration on page 1 of Appendix).

The defenses of Defendants Miller & Viele and Chevron Oil Company to Plaintiff Dye's tax title to the disputed one-half mineral interest were interposed by answers filed, respectively, June 16, 1976, and June 21, 1976 (R-16;21; 236).

There is no dispute over title to the surface estate of the real property or the other one-half mineral interest.

CASES CITED

	Page
<u>Brunson v. Bailey</u> , 16 So.2d 9 (Ala. 1944)	11
<u>C.I.R. v. Center Investment Co.</u> , 108 F.2d 190 (9th Cir. 1940)	11
<u>Dixon v. American Liberty Oil Co.</u> , 77 So.2d 533, 4 Oil and Gas Reporter 17 (1954).	16
<u>Everts v. Phillips Petroleum Co.</u> , 218 La. 835, 51 So.2d 87 (1950).	15
<u>Lillianskyoldt v. Goss</u> , 2 Utah 297 (1877)	15
<u>McWharten v. Oliver</u> , 2 S.W. 2d 281 (Tex. 1928).	11
<u>Phelps v. Kroll</u> , 235 N.W. 67 (Iowa 1931).	11
<u>Robinson v. Smith</u> , 128 S.W.2d 27 (Tex. 1939).	11
<u>Smith v. Hold</u> , 67 So.2d 93, 2 Oil and Gas Reporter 21 (1953).	17
<u>Steele v. Harris</u> , 2 S.W.2d 537 (1928)	11
<u>Thompson v. Ford Motor Co.</u> , 16 U.2d 30, 395 P.2d 62 (1964).	9
<u>Whitman v. W.T. Grant Co.</u> , 16 U.2d 81, 395 P.2d 918 (1964)	9

TEXT CITATIONS

3 Am Jur. 2d "Adverse Possession", Section 15	11
2 C.J.S. "Adverse Possession", Section 47	11

STATUTES CITED

Section 40-6-6(a), Utah Code Annotated	13
Section 40-6-6(e), Utah Code Annotated	13
Section 40-6-6(f), Utah Code Annotated	18, 15
Section 78-12-5.1, Utah Code Annotated	10
Section 78-12-5.2, Utah Code Annotated	10, 11

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

MILLER & VIELE IS NOT BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATION FROM INTERPOSING DEFENSES TO PLAINTIFF DYE'S TAX TITLE TO THE DISPUTED ONE-HALF MINERAL INTEREST BECAUSE MILLER & VIELE WAS IN POSSESSION OF THE DISPUTED ONE-HALF MINERAL INTEREST WITHIN FOUR (4) YEARS PRIOR TO THE INTERPOSITION OF ITS DEFENSES IN THIS LAWSUIT TO DYE'S TAX TITLE.

Initially it must be observed that inasmuch as this is an appeal from a Summary Judgment, all facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to Miller & Viele. E.g., Whitman v. W.T. Grant Co., 16 U.2d 81, 395 P.2d 918 (1964); Thompson v. Ford Motor Co., 16 U.2d 30, 395 P.2d 62 (1964). In addition, the only dispute is over title to a one-half mineral interest that is subject to a drilling unit order and a communitization agreement. There is no challenge to ownership of the surface or the other one-half mineral interest.

The issue for determination on appeal is whether or not Miller & Viele is barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing its defenses to Dye's tax title. This issue in turn raises the real question to be determined -- whether Miller & Viele was in actual possession of the disputed mineral interest within four (4) years prior to the interposition of its defenses in this lawsuit to Dye's tax title.

On Summary Judgment, the lower court held that Defendant Miller & Viele was barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Plaintiff Dye's tax title. The applicable statutes, however, provide that defenses to tax titles can be interposed when the party raising the defense to the tax title has been in possession of the disputed property within four (4) years prior to the interposition of the defense:

[N]o such action or defense shall be commenced or interposed more than four years after the date of the tax deed, conveyance, or transfer creating such tax title unless the person commencing or interposing such action or defense or his predecessor has actually occupied or been in possession of such property within four (4) years prior to the commencement or interposition of such action or defense or within one (1) year from the effective date of this amendment [Utah Code Ann. §78-12-5.1 emphasis added].

Utah Code Annotated §78-12-5.2, which in part also bars the interposition of defenses to tax titles after four (4) years from the issuance of the tax title, also states:

Provided, however, that this section shall not bar any action or defense by the owner of the legal title to such property where he or his predecessor has actually occupied or been in actual possession of such property within four (4) years from the commencement or interposition of such action or defense.

In both of these statutes, the phrases "in possession of such property" (78-12-5.1), and "actual possession of

such property" (78-12-5.2), refer to the property for which quiet title is being sought. In this case, since the only property in dispute between the plaintiffs and the defendants is the one-half mineral interest, possession of "such property" means possession of the one-half mineral interest.

Accordingly, Miller & Viele is not barred by the statutes of limitation from interposing defenses to Plaintiff Dye's tax title if, within four (4) years prior to the interposition of its defenses to Dye's tax title, Miller & Viele was in "actual possession" of the disputed one-half mineral interest.

Miller & Viele was in fact in possession of the disputed one-half mineral interest through its lessee, Chevron Oil Company ("Chevron"), within four (4) years prior to the interposition of its defenses to Dye's tax title. It is a well established principal of law that possession of property by a lessee is deemed to be possession of property by the lessor. E.g., Phelps v. Kroll, 235 N.W. 67 (Iowa 1931); see, e.g., C.I.R. v. Center Investment Company, 108 F.2d 190 (9th Cir.), rev'd on other grounds, 309 U.S. 639 (1940); Brunson v. Bailey, 16 So.2d 9 (Ala. 1944); Robinson v. Smith, 128 S.W.2d 27 (Tex. 1939); Steele v. Harris, 2 S.W.2d 537 (Tex. 1928); McWharten v. Oliver, 2 S.W.2d 281 (Tex. 1928); 3 Am Jur. 2d "Adverse Possession" Section 15; 2 C.J.S. "Adverse Possession" Section 47.

On March 26, 1974, Chevron, as Miller & Viele's lessee

of the disputed one-half mineral interest, completed a well. Since its completion, the well has been operated by Chevron and it has continuously produced oil and gas from the common source of supply for the disputed one-half mineral interest property and the other surrounding properties. Miller & Viele interposed its defenses to Dye's tax title in its Answer which was filed with the Court on June 17, 1976. Thus Miller & Viele's possession of the disputed one-half mineral interest by and through its lessee, Chevron, was within four (4) years prior to the interposition of its defenses to Dye's tax titles. Accordingly, Miller & Viele is not barred from interposing defenses to Plaintiff Dye's tax title.

The oil and gas well constructed and operated by Chevron, as Miller & Viele's lessee, was located on the 640 acre tract or unit established by the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation in its Order and Cause No. 131-14, of August 11, 1971. This Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation provided that only one (1) well could be drilled for production of oil, gas, or hydrocarbons, from "the common source of supply" in a 640 acre unit specified by the Board in its Order. This 640 acre unit established by the Board included all of Section 29, Township 1 South, Range 1 West, U.S.M., ("Section 29"). The disputed one-half mineral interest is in land located in the NW1/4NE1/4 of Section 29 (see illustration on page of Appendix).

This Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation was issued pursuant to authority granted the Board in Section 40-6-6(a) et. seq., Utah Code Annotated:

To prevent waste of oil or gas, to avoid the drilling of unnecessary wells, or to protect correlative rights, the Commission [now "Board"; see 1977 Supp.], upon its own notice herein provided, shall have the power to establish drilling units covering any pool.
[40-6-6(a)]

.
After an Order fixing drilling units has been entered by the Commission, the commencement of drilling of any well or wells into any common source of supply for the purpose of producing oil or gas therefrom, at a location other than authorized by the order, is hereby prohibited. The operation of any wells drilled in violation of an order fixing drilling units is prohibited [40-6-6(e)].

On October 30, 1973, Chevron (Miller & Viele's lessee), Plaintiff Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc., and others with a leasehold interest in the properties in Section 29, entered into a Communitization Agreement, the purpose of which is set forth in the paragraph on the first page of the Agreement which states:

[T]he parties hereto own working, royalty or other leasehold interest, or operating rights under the oil and gas leases and the land subject to this Agreement which cannot be independently developed and operated in conformity with the well spacing program established for the field or area in which said lands are located.

The parties to this Communitization Agreement were precluded by the terms of the Order of the Utah Board of Oil and Gas Conservation from any other alternative than to enter into this pooling agreement whereby they designated an operator to produce from and operate one well for the benefit of all holders of mineral interests within the 640 acre drilling unit covered by this pooling agreement.

The Communitization Agreement provides that an operator will govern the operations of the well which was constructed and completed for the purpose of producing oil and gas minerals from the common source of supply in Section 29. Chevron was selected as the operator of that Section 29 well pursuant to the provisions of the Communitization Agreement.

The well completed by Chevron on March 26, 1974, ("Chevron well"), which has produced oil and gas continuously ever since as aforesaid, is located in the SW1/4NW1/4SE1/4 of Section 29. The oil and gas produced from the Chevron well comes from the "common source of supply" of oil, gas, and associated hydrocarbons for all of Section 29, including the disputed one-half mineral interest property (R-234-35; see Board's Findings of Fact and Order at R-87). Production of oil, gas, and associated hydrocarbons from the Chevron well by Chevron is therefore production, in part, of oil, gas, and

associated hydrocarbons from the disputed one-half mineral interest property.

The Utah Supreme Court has defined "actual possession" in another context as follows:

Actual possession exists where the thing is in the immediate occupancy of the party; B.DIET. p. 349 or, as the court in this case instructed the jury, actual possession is the subjugation of the premises to the use and dominion of the claimant. [Lillianskyoldt v. Goss, 2 Utah 297 (1877)].

Production of oil and gas by Chevron from the common source of supply for the disputed one-half mineral interest property and surrounding properties, clearly constitutes subjugation of the disputed one-half mineral interest to the use and dominion of Chevron and therefore its lessor, Miller & Viele. In addition, the minerals extracted by Chevron which come, in part, from the disputed one-half mineral interest property, are "in the immediate occupancy" of Chevron, and therefore Miller & Viele.

Other courts ruling on this issue have held that well drilling operations on pooled lands are operations for the extraction of minerals from each of the pooled properties by their respective mineral interest leaseholders.

In Everts v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 218 La. 835, 51 So.2d 87 (1950), the responsible state agency issued a drilling unit order similar to the drilling unit order issued in the instant case, allowing only one well to be

drilled within a large acreage area. The issue in that case was whether the operation of one well established pursuant to that drilling unit order constituted a drilling of minerals from each of the lands within the drilling unit established by the drilling unit order. The well established pursuant to the drilling unit order was called the "Fitzsimmons Well". The land included in the drilling unit, but upon which no well was located, and which land was owned by the plaintiff in that case, was called the "canal strip". The court held that

the drilling of the Fitzsimmons Well constituted a drilling of the canal strip. It follows, then, that the provisions of the lease respecting the payment of the one and one-half percent royalty and adjoining production was inapplicable as there was drilling on Plaintiff's land [51 So.2d at 92; emphasis added].

In Dixon v. American Liberty Oil Company, 77 So.2d 533, 4 Oil and Gas Reporter 17 (1954), the operator of an oil and gas well located on pooled lands claimed adverse possession over all the lands of the pooled area by virtue of its operation of and control over the well. Responding to that argument, the Court held that through the well operator each of the mineral lessees of land within the pooled area was in possession of its respective leasehold mineral interest, such that the well operator could not adversely possess those lands or interest. Specifically, the court stated that

the drilling and production of oil from a unitized area constitutes an exercise and user of mineral rights throughout the entire unit and operates as a substitute for performance of drilling obligations contained in a mineral lease [4 Oil and Gas Reporter at 22].

Also, in Smith v. Hold, 67 So.2d 93, 2 Oil and Gas Reporter 21 (1953), defendant owned the mineral rights to oil and gas in a forty acre parcel of land. The State Conservation Department established drilling units allowing only one (1) well on each forty acre drilling unit. Defendant, through his mineral lessee, drilled a well on the West 20 acres of the forty acres. Plaintiff, who owned the surface rights to the East 20 acres of the forty acre parcel, contended that because he had not located his well on the East 20 acres Defendant had lost his rights to the oil and gas below the East 20 acres within the allotted ten year period to prevent "prescription" by plaintiff.

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