1978

Richard Gerald Dye, aka R. Gerald Dye, and Gas Producing Enterprises, Inc. , A Corporation v. Miller & Viele, A Corporation Lee Charles Miller, Lesley F. Lewis, and Chevron Oil Company, A Corporation v. All Other Persons Unknown Claiming Any Right, Title, Estate, Lien Or Interest In the Real Property Described In the Complaint Adverse To Plaintiffs' Ownership, Or Any Cloud Upon Plaintiffs' Title thereto : Brief of Respondents

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

## ARGUMENT

### Point I

DEFENDANT MILLER & VIELE IS BARRED BY THE STATUTES OF LIMITATION FOR TAX TITLES FROM INTERPOSING ANY DEFENSE TO PLAINTIFF RICHARD GERALD DYE'S TAX TITLE TO THE NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  INCLUDING THE UNDIVIDED ONE HALF MINERAL INTEREST IN SAID LANDS ON GROUNDS THAT SAID DEFENSE IS INTERPOSED MORE THAN FOUR YEARS SUBSEQUENT TO ISSUANCE OF THE TAX TITLE AND DEFENDANT MILLER & VIELE OR ITS AGENTS HAVE NOT ACTUALLY OCCUPIED OR BEEN IN ACTUAL POSSESSION OF THE LANDS WITHIN FOUR YEARS PRIOR TO INTERPOSITION OF ITS DEFENSE PURSUANT TO UTAH CODE ANN. §§78-12-5.1 and -.2 (1953).

Although judicial decision appears to entitle Miller & Viele to have the facts viewed in a light most favorable to it inasmuch as this is an appeal from a Summary Judgment, it must be noted that all facts pertaining to the respective chains of title

were stipulated to by the parties to this appeal. All facts pertaining to actual possession of the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  and to payment of taxes by Dye and his predecessors in interest, as well as to exploration and production activities of Chevron Oil Company were submitted by both parties to the appeal upon affidavit and certified abstract and are uncontroverted.

Both plaintiffs and defendant Miller & Viele moved the lower court for summary judgment on grounds that there were no material issues of fact. With the sole exception of the Driscoll affidavit pertaining to the perimeters of the "common source of supply", which the lower court refused to accept, all facts were before the court. There was no new or additional evidence which could have been presented to the court even in a trial setting. The district court considered all the evidence and every inference fairly to be derived therefrom, and ruled in plaintiffs' favor. This case was a particularly appropriate case for summary judgment as there were no disputed facts. The only issues in the district court were issues of law. They are now on appeal.

The issue for determination is whether or not Miller & Viele is barred by the applicable statutes of limitation from interposing its defenses to Dye's tax title. This issue in turn raises the real question to be determined whether Miller & Viele was in actual possession of the disputed mineral interest within four years prior to the interposition of its defense in this lawsuit to Dye's tax title.

The district court's decision was based upon §§78-12-5.1 and 78-12-5.2, the statutes which prescribe the period of limitation applicable in tax title litigation. Miller & Viele's position on appeal is that it fits the actual possession exception of those statutes and therefore is not barred from asserting its defense to Dye's title.

Specifically, Miller & Viele contends that it was in possession of the undivided one-half mineral interest underlying the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  by and through its oil and gas lessee, Chevron Oil Company, within the four year period prior to interposition of Miller & Viele's defense to Dye's tax title. The facts upon which Miller & Viele seeks to support its contention are that Chevron is operator of the R. G. Dye 1-29A1 Well which produces oil and gas from a common source of supply underlying the drilling unit into which the Dye lease was pooled. The well operated by Chevron is located in the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$  of the Section 29 drilling unit on a lease other than Dye lease. Miller & Viele concludes that production of oil and gas from the well-head somehow constitutes actual possession of the undivided one-half mineral interest in the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ .

However, the cases relied upon by Miller & Viele to support its position that possession of the lessee inures to the benefit of the lessor are ancient landlord-tenant and mortgagee-mortgage cases from foreign jurisdictions which are not controlling upon this Court. Furthermore, those oil and gas cases cited by Miller & Viele in its brief do not stand for the proposition asserted by Miller & Viele; that production of oil and gas from lands pooled

into a drilling unit constitutes "actual" possession of the mineral estates in those lands. In fact the law of those cases is to the contrary, and is directly supportive of plaintiffs' position.

Plaintiffs contend, that based upon the statutes and compelling oil and gas case law, Chevron was not in actual possession or actual occupancy of the NW¼NE¼, including the underlying mineral estate, required by the applicable statutes of limitation. Therefore, Miller & Viele is barred from challenging Dye's tax title.

The Utah statutes of limitation for tax titles bar all challenges to tax titles which are not brought within four years of the date of issuance of the tax title. Peterson v. Callister, 6 Utah 2d 359, 313 P.2d 814 (1957); Hansen v. Morris, 3 Utah 2d 310, 283 P.2d 884 (1955). There are two exceptions to the barring of untimely defenses, limited (1) to persons challenging the tax title who have actually occupied or who have been in actual possession of the lands affected by the tax title; and (2) to cities or towns who hold a lien which is equal or superior to the claim of the tax title holder.

Miller & Viele relies on the possession exception which reads in context as follows:

. . . no such action or defense shall be commenced or interposed more than four years after the date of the tax deed . . . unless the person commencing or interposing such action or defense . . . has actually occupied or been in possession of such property within fours prior to the commencement or interposition of such action or defense . . . (emphasis added)

§78-12-5.1

The companion proviso reads as follows:

. . . this section shall not bar any action or defense by the owner of legal title to such property where he . . . has actually occupied or been in actual possession of such property within four years from the commencement or interposition of such action or defense . . . (emphasis added)  
§78-12-5.2

Although this exception has been formerly recognized by the Utah Supreme Court in Huntington City v. Peterson, 30 Utah 2d 408, 518 P.2d 1246 (1974), the court has given no indication that the "actual possession" exception in the statutes was anything other than actual possession.

The Utah Supreme Court has defined "actual possession" of real property interests as follows:

"Actual possession exists where the thing (real property) is in the immediate occupancy of the party;" B.L. Dict p. 349; or as the court in this case instructed the jury, "Actual possession is the subjugation of the premises to the use and dominion of the claimant." [Lillianskyoldt v. Goss, 2 Utah 297 (1877)].

That case involved an action to recover an undivided interest in real property.

The Utah position is in accord with other jurisdictions which have defined the term similarly when construing similar types of statutes. In People ex rel Turner v. Kelsey, 89 NYS 416, 418, 96 App. Div. 148 (1904), the New York Supreme Court, Appellate Division, in construing a real property tax statute which required a party to be in "actual possession" prerequisite to redeeming delinquent property from tax sale, said:

"'Actual possession,' is a legal phrase, is put in opposition to the other phrase, 'possession in law,' or 'constructive possession.' Actual



possession is the same as pedis possessio or pedis positio, and these mean a foothold on the land, an actual entry, a possession in fact, a standing upon it, an occupation of it, as a real, demonstrative act done. It is the contrary of a possession in law, which follows in the wake of title."

The Utah adverse possession statutes contained in §§78-12-9 and §78-12-11 are helpful in defining what types of acts constitute "actual possession" of land. Under those statutes a person is considered to have occupied or possessed lands where the person (1) cultivates or improves the land; or (2) protects the land by a substantial inclosure; or (3) uses the land for fuel, timber, pasturage, or other ordinary use of the land; or (4) expends the value of \$5.00 per acre in labor or money to erect or maintain irrigation works. The acts expressly stated in those statutes as constituting actual possession, and those acts to be implied therefrom, are all acts requiring pedis possessio, or actual entry upon and immediate occupation of the land claimed to be possessed. Further, those acts enumerated in the statutes are designed to give the true owner of the property notice that someone else is asserting physical possession of the land.

The requirement for pedis possessio or a foothold upon the estate does not change when this court has dealt with possession of the mineral estate. This court has held that there is no actual possession of the severed mineral estate where there is no actual possession of the beds through mining and extraction. Kanawha and Hocking Coal and Coke Company v. Carbon County, 535 P.2d 1139, 1140 (Utah 1975). In that case this Court rigidly applied the statutes of limitation for tax titles in a mineral dispute

to bar the plaintiff from challenging defendant Carbon County tax title to the coal beds. The coal beds, which had been assessed separately from the surface, had been sold to Carbon County for unpaid taxes for the year 1932. The auditor's tax deed issued to Carbon County in 1937. Plaintiff occupied and possessed the surface, but also asserted ownership of the minerals which had been severed from the surface by the tax sale before plaintiff's period of possession commenced. The Court held that the plaintiff was barred by §78-12-5.1 from challenging Carbon County's tax title since the county had received its tax deed more than four years prior to the suit, and since the plaintiff had not been in actual possession of the mineral rights conveyed to the county by the tax deed within the four year period prior to the suit. Interestingly, the issues in Kanawha and Hocking Coal Company were before the lower court on a motion for summary judgment.

The instant case does not deal with a severed mineral estate as did Kanawha. In this case the undivided one-half mineral interest has never been severed from the surface estate obtained by Duchesne County at tax sale. In other words the entire fee simple estate in the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  remains intact with the title to the surface and the disputed undivided one-half interest in minerals reposing in the same owner, Richard Gerald Dye, under the tax deed.

Miller & Viele admitted in its Answers to Interrogatories that it was never in actual occupancy or actual possession of the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  which includes the unsevered and undivided one-half mineral interest, and the district court so found. As operator of the

R. G. Dye 1-29A1 Well, Chevron Oil Company likewise has not been in actual, physical possession of either the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 29, or the underlying mineral estate. The R. G. Dye 1-29A1 Well was drilled by and is now operated by Chevron in the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 29. The records of the Utah Division of Oil, Gas and Mining submitted by Miller & Viele clearly reflect that Chevron's drilling and production activities as operator were confirmed solely to the well-site. Chevron has been in actual possession and occupancy of the lands covered by the lease upon which the well is located, but has not drilled or produced from a well on the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ . Since the well is not a directional well, slant drilled from the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$  into the mineral estate underlying NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Chevron has not been in actual physical possession of the mineral estate underlying the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$  owned by Dye as holder of the tax title, as Chevron had no foothold upon the mineral estate.

The question then becomes two-pronged. First, did Chevron, as operator of the voluntary pooling unit located on Section 29 to which the Dye lease was committed somehow obtain actual possession of the undivided mineral interest by production of oil and gas from a common source of supply by means of a well located elsewhere in the unit on lands other than those covered by the Dye lease. Second, if it is determined that Chevron was in actual possession of the mineral interest underlying the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , does that actual possession inure to Miller & Viele.

Miller & Viele states in its brief that other courts ruling on this issue have held that well drilling operations on pooled lands are operations for the extraction of minerals from each of the pooled properties as if by their respective mineral interest leaseholders. **Brief of Appellant at 15 Miller & Viele**

then cites Everts v. Phillips Petroleum Co., Dixon v. American Liberty Oil Company, and Smith v. Holt, as well as provisions of the Communitization Agreement and Utah statutes pertaining to forced and voluntary pooling in an effort to support the proposition. Unique in this approach is the fact that the Dixon case is one of the very cases urged by plaintiff below and which the district court found so convincing in ruling in plaintiffs' favor. Through misconstruing the whole thrust and purpose of those cases, the provisions of the Communitization Agreement and the voluntary and forced pooling statute Miller & Viele has inadvertently marched into plaintiffs' camp waving plaintiffs' flag.

The persuasive rule in oil and gas producing jurisdictions is that removal of oil and gas from under a tract of land by means of a well located on adjacent or nearby tracts, even if included in the same production unit, is insufficient to constitute actual possession of the mineral estate. R. Hemingway, The Law of Oil and Gas 124 (1971) [hereinafter as Hemingway]. Professor Hemingway stated the foregoing rule under the subparagraph entitled "(A) of Actual Possession" within a context of his discussion of actual possession of minerals.

Meeting this issue head on in the very case Miller & Viele cites in support of its argument for actual possession, the Louisiana Supreme Court stated:

[W]here as the drilling and production of oil from a unitized area constitutes an exercise and user of mineral rights throughout the entire unit and operates as a substitute for performance of drilling obligations contained in a mineral lease, these acts

are not to be regarded as an eviction of the surface owner's possession of the minerals or of his exclusive right thereto when explorations are not conducted on the land itself. Dixon v. American Liberty Oil Company, 77 So.2d 533, 538, 4 O&GR 21,23 (1954).

In that case two adjacent tracts were unitized by order of the Department of Conservation. A well located on one tract drained the common pool located under both tracts. Although this was an adverse possession case, it did not turn on the hostile, exclusive, continuous, or open elements of adverse possession. It did turn on the actual possession element. The court reasoned that the mineral estate could not be thought of as separate from the surface estate, since both estates were owned by the same party and had not been severed. Consequently, since the minerals were not disturbed in place, that is from actual dominion of the land itself by oil and gas operations extracting directly from the land, the operator exercised no physical dominion over the mineral estate by simply draining the pool.

The reasoning in the Dixon case is consistent with the Utah theory of ownership of oil and gas in place. That theory encapsulates the notion that oil and gas is a corporeal estate in real property to be owned as part of the land, similar to ownership of hard minerals. Chase v. Morgan, 9 Utah 2d 125, 339 P.2d 1019, 1021 (1959). The Utah rule aligns itself with the majority position in the country and is juxtaposed to the non-ownership in place concept which postulates that analogous to wild animals and water, oil and gas as a fugacious substance cannot be thought of as being in the possession of a party until reduced to actual possession at the well-head. Hemingway at 10.

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